DELTA AIR LINES INC /DE/ Form S-8 POS April 21, 2009

As filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 21, 2009.

Registration No. 333-154818

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

POST-EFFECTIVE AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO FORM S-8 REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

DELTA AIR LINES, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

58-0218548 (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

1040 Delta Boulevard
Hartsfield-Jackson Atlanta International Airport
Atlanta, Georgia 30354
(404) 715-2600
(Address of Principal Executive Offices,
including Zip Code)

DELTA AIR LINES, INC. 2007 PERFORMANCE COMPENSATION PLAN (Full title of the plan)

Richard B. Hirst, Esq.
Senior Vice President –General Counsel
Delta Air Lines, Inc.
P.O Box 20706
Atlanta, Georgia 30320-6001
(Name and address of agent for service)

(404) 715-2191

(Telephone number, including area code, of agent for service)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer x

Accelerated filer o

Non-accelerated filer o

Smaller reporting company o

(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

EXPLANATORY NOTE

This Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to our Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 333-154818) is being filed in order to register for resale 121,813 shares of our common stock, par value \$0.0001, which have been issued or are issuable under the Delta Air Lines, Inc. 2007 Performance Compensation Plan (the "Plan") to individuals who may be deemed to be "affiliates," as that term is defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), of the Company. This Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 includes a reoffer prospectus, prepared in accordance with the requirements of Form S-3 which may be used for the offer and sale of the securities registered hereunder pursuant to General Instruction C of Form S-8.

Unless otherwise indicated, the terms "Delta," the "Company," "we," "us," and "our" refer to Delta Air Lines, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

REOFFER PROSPECTUS

DELTA AIR LINES, INC.

121,813 Shares

1	C	\cap	1	1	n	1	ľ	\cap	N	S'	ΓC	C	K
١			"	V	ı	V	v	.,	1		IV.	л.	\mathbf{r}

This prospectus relates to 121,813 shares of our common stock, par value \$0.0001 per share, which we have issued or will issue to certain pilots of Delta and Northwest in an agreement that we entered into as part of our merger with Northwest Airlines Corporation. All of these shares have been issued or are issuable pursuant to the Plan. From time to time, these individuals, who are named in this prospectus, may offer and sell the shares for their own accounts. We will not receive any proceeds from such sales.

The selling stockholders identified in this prospectus include Kenneth C. Rogers, a member of the Air Lines Pilots Association, International ("ALPA") who is currently serving on the Board of Directors of Delta, and the members and officers of the Master Executive Council of the Delta unit of ALPA who may participate in the designation of Mr. Rogers, or any successor, to serve as a member of the Board of Directors of Delta and with whom Mr. Rogers meets from time to time. As a result of these roles, the selling stockholders may be deemed to be "affiliates" as that term is defined under Rule 405 under the Securities Act.

The selling stockholders may sell their shares from time to time in transactions occurring either on or off the New York Stock Exchange, Inc. ("NYSE") at prevailing market prices or at negotiated prices, or they may decide to sell their shares by other means or not at all. Sales may be made through brokers or to dealers, who are expected to receive customary commissions or discounts.

The shares may be considered "control securities" and/or "restricted securities" under the Securities Act prior to their sale under this reoffer prospectus. This reoffer prospectus has been prepared for the purpose of registering the shares to allow for future sales under the Securities Act by selling stockholders, on a continuous or delayed basis, to the public without restriction. The selling stockholders and participating brokers and dealers may be deemed to be "underwriters" within the meaning of the Securities Act in which event any profits on the sale of shares by those selling stockholders and any commissions or discounts received by those brokers or dealers may be deemed to be underwriting compensation under the Securities Act.

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "DAL". On April 20, 2009, the last reported sale price of our common stock was \$6.81.

Investing in our common stock involves certain risks. See "Risk Factors" on page 1.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") nor any state securities commission has approved or

disapproved these securities, or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

The date of this prospectus is April 21, 2009

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
Where You Can Find More Information	ii
The Company	1
Risk Factors	1
Forward-Looking Statements	2
Selling Stockholders	4
Plan of Distribution	5
Use of Proceeds	5
Dividend Policy	6
Validity of Securities	6
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information	7
Experts	17

You should rely only on the information contained in this prospectus, any prospectus supplement and the documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus or to which we have referred you. We have not authorized anyone to provide you with information that is different. If anyone provides you with different or inconsistent information, you should not rely on it. This document may be used only where it is legal to sell these securities. You should not assume that the information provided by this prospectus or any prospectus supplement is accurate as of any date other than the date on the front of those documents. Also, you should not assume that there has been no change in the affairs of Delta since those dates.

i

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. You may read and copy any document filed by us at the SEC's public reference rooms at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the public reference room. Our SEC filings are also available to the public over the internet at http://www.sec.gov and at our website, www.delta.com. The contents of our website are not incorporated into this prospectus.

This prospectus is part of a registration statement that we have filed with the SEC relating to the securities to be offered. This prospectus does not contain all of the information we have included in the registration statement and the accompanying exhibits in accordance with the rules and regulations of the SEC, and we refer you to the omitted information. The statements this prospectus makes pertaining to the content of any contract, agreement or other document that is an exhibit to the registration statement necessarily are summaries of their material provisions and does not describe all exceptions and qualifications contained in those contracts, agreements or documents. You should read those contracts, agreements or documents for information that may be important to you. The registration statement and exhibits are available at the SEC's public reference room or through its internet site.

We incorporate by reference the documents or portions of documents listed below and any filings made with the SEC under Section 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, after the date of this prospectus and prior to the termination of this offering (other than current reports furnished on Form 8-K under Items 2.02 and 7.01).

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008;

Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 23, 2009;

Exhibits 99.1 and 99.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on November 7, 2008;

Exhibit 99.4 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 31, 2008; and

The description of our common stock contained in our Form 8-A filed on April 26, 2007.

The information incorporated by reference in this prospectus is considered to be a part of this prospectus, and information that we file later with the SEC, prior to the termination of this offering, will automatically update and supersede this information.

Any party to whom this prospectus is delivered may request a copy of these filings (other than any exhibits unless specifically incorporated by reference into this prospectus), at no cost, by writing or telephoning us at Delta Air Lines, Inc., Investor Relations, Dept. No. 829, P.O. Box 20706, Atlanta, GA 30320, telephone no. (404) 715-2600.

ii

THE COMPANY

We are the world's largest airline, providing scheduled air transportation for passengers and cargo throughout the United States and around the world. On October 29, 2008, a subsidiary of ours merged with and into Northwest Airlines Corporation ("Northwest"). As a result of this merger, Northwest and its subsidiaries, including Northwest Airlines, Inc. ("NWA"), became wholly-owned subsidiaries of Delta. We plan to fully integrate the operations of NWA into Delta as promptly as is feasible, which we anticipate we will substantially complete in 2010. The merger better positions us to manage through economic cycles and volatile fuel prices, invest in our fleet, improve services for customers and achieve our strategic objectives.

Our global route network is centered around the hub system we operate at airports in Atlanta, Cincinnati, Detroit, Memphis, Minneapolis/St. Paul, New York-JFK, Salt Lake City, Amsterdam and Tokyo-Narita. Each of these hub operations includes flights that gather and distribute traffic from markets in the geographic region surrounding the hub to domestic and international cities and to other hubs. The combination of Delta's strengths in the south, mountain west and northeast United States, Europe and Latin America and NWA's strengths in the midwest and northwest United States and Asia gives the combined company a diversified global network with a presence in every major domestic and international market. The network is supported by a fleet of aircraft that is varied in terms of size and capabilities, giving us flexibility to adjust aircraft to the network.

Other key characteristics of our route network include:

our alliances with foreign airlines, including our membership in SkyTeam, a global airline alliance;

Delta's transatlantic joint venture with Air France and NWA's transatlantic joint venture with KLM;

our domestic alliances, including our marketing alliance with Alaska Airlines and Horizon Air, which we are enhancing to expand our west coast service; and

agreements with multiple domestic regional carriers, which operate either as Delta Connection or Northwest Airlink, including our wholly-owned subsidiaries, Comair, Inc., Compass Airlines, Inc. and Mesaba Aviation, Inc.

We are a Delaware corporation headquartered in Atlanta, Georgia. Our principal executive offices are located at Hartsfield-Jackson Atlanta International Airport, Atlanta, Georgia 30320-6001 and our telephone number is (404) 715-2600. Our website is www.delta.com. We have provided this website address as an inactive textual reference only and the information contained on our website is not a part of this prospectus.

RISK FACTORS

An investment in our common stock involves certain risks. You should carefully consider the risks described below and the risks described under "Risk Factors" in our most recent annual report on Form 10-K and in any annual or quarterly report filed hereafter, as well as the other information included or incorporated by reference in this prospectus, before making an investment decision. Our business, financial condition or results of operations could be materially adversely affected by any of these risks. The market or trading price of our common stock could decline due to any of these risks or other factors, and you may lose all or part of your investment.

The market price of our common stock has been and could remain volatile.

The market price for our common stock has been and may continue to be volatile, and our stock may be subject to price and volume limitations in response to market and other factors. Among the many factors that could affect the market price of our common stock are:

changes in the prices or availability of oil or jet fuel;

our quarterly or annual earnings or those of other companies in our industry;

changes in earnings estimates or recommendations by research analysts who track our common stock or the stock of other airlines; and

changes in general conditions in the U.S. and global economy, financial markets or airline industry, including those resulting from changes in fuel prices or fuel shortages, war, incidents of terrorism or responses to such events.

In addition, many of the other risks that are described under the heading "Risk Factors" in our most recent annual report on Form 10-K and any annual report or quarterly report filed hereafter could also materially and adversely affect our stock price.

In recent years, the stock market has experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations, which has become more pronounced as a result of the recent global financial crisis. This volatility has had a significant impact on the market price of securities issued by many companies, including companies in our industry. The changes frequently appear to occur without regard to the operating performance of these companies. The price of our common stock could fluctuate based upon factors that have little or nothing to do with our company, and these fluctuations could materially reduce our stock price.

The price of our common stock may be adversely affected by the issuance and sale of our common stock, including pursuant to this prospectus, or by our announcement that such issuances and sales may occur.

The sale or availability for sale of substantial amounts of our common stock could adversely impact its price. Our certificate of incorporation authorizes us to issue 1,500,000,000 shares of common stock. On March 31, 2009, 771,645,975 shares of common stock were outstanding; 8,097,632 shares of common stock were held in treasury; 65,426,465 shares of common stock were reserved for issuance pursuant to the reserve in Delta's Plan of Reorganization under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code; 7,781,145 shares of common stock were reserved for issuance pursuant to the reserve created in Northwest's Plan of Reorganization under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code; 23,418,350 shares of common stock were reserved for issuance under the Plan (not including 7,051,693 shares held in treasury that can be issued under the Plan, which are included in the number of shares held in treasury described above); and 7,239,443 shares of common stock were reserved for issuance under the Northwest Airlines Corporation 2007 Stock Incentive Plan. Accordingly, a substantial number of shares of our common stock are available for sale under our certificate of incorporation.

We cannot predict the size of future issuances or sales of our common stock (including those made pursuant to this prospectus), or other equity related securities (including convertible notes) in the public market or the effect, if any, that such issuances or sales may have on the market price for our common stock. The issuance and sale of substantial amounts of common stock (including issuances and sales pursuant to this prospectus) or other equity related securities (including convertible notes), or the perception or announcement that such issuances and sales may occur, could adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Statements in this prospectus (or otherwise made by us or on our behalf) that are not historical facts, including statements regarding our estimates, expectations, beliefs, intentions, projections or strategies for the future, may be "forward-looking statements" as defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. When used in this prospectus, the words "expects," "plans," "anticipates," and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from historical experience or our present expectations. Most of these factors are outside our control and are difficult to predict. Factors that may cause such differences include, but are not limited to:

the cost of aircraft fuel;

the effects of the global recession;

the effects of the global financial crisis;

the impact of posting collateral in connection with our fuel hedge contracts;

the impact that our indebtedness will have on our financial and operating activities and our ability to incur additional debt;

the restrictions that financial covenants in our financing agreements will have on our financial condition and business operations;

labor issues;

the ability to realize the anticipated benefits of our merger with Northwest;

the integration of the Delta and Northwest workforces;

interruptions or disruptions in service at one of our hub airports;

our increasing dependence on technology in our operations;

our ability to retain management and key employees;

the ability of our credit card processors to take significant holdbacks in certain circumstances;

the effects of terrorist attacks; and

competitive conditions in the airline industry.

The foregoing list of factors is not exclusive. Additional information concerning these and other risk factors are discussed in documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus, including our most recently filed Form 10-K and any amendments thereto. All forward-looking statements speak only as of the date made, and we undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances that may arise after the date of this prospectus.

SELLING STOCKHOLDERS

This reoffer prospectus relates to shares that are being registered for reoffers and resales by the selling stockholders who have received or may receive shares pursuant to the Plan. The selling stockholders may resell any or all of the shares offered from time to time while this reoffer prospectus is effective.

The following table sets forth (a) the name of each selling stockholder; (b) the number of shares of common stock of Delta beneficially owned by each selling stockholder as of March 12, 2009; (c) maximum number of additional shares that may be issued to each selling stockholder pursuant to the Plan in connection with the agreement that we entered into as part of our merger with Northwest; (d) the maximum number of shares of common stock of Delta that each selling stockholder may offer for sale from time to time pursuant to this reoffer prospectus, whether or not the selling stockholder has any present intention to do so and whether or not such shares have previously been issued to the selling stockholder or may in the future be issued, if at all; and (e) the number of shares of common stock of Delta and the percentage of common stock of Delta that would be beneficially owned by each selling stockholder assuming the sale of all shares offered hereby. All information with respect to beneficial ownership has been furnished by the selling stockholders. The inclusion in the table below of the individuals named therein shall not be deemed to be an admission that any such individuals are our "affiliates" as that term is defined under Rule 405 under the Securities Act.

Information concerning the identities of the selling stockholders, the number of shares that may be sold by each selling stockholder and information about the shares beneficially owned by the selling stockholders may from time to time be updated in supplements to this reoffer prospectus, which will be filed with the SEC in accordance with Rule 424(b) of the Securities Act if and when necessary. Information on the shares offered pursuant to this reoffer prospectus, as listed below, do not necessarily indicate that the selling stockholder presently intends to sell any or all of the shares so listed. Because the selling stockholders may sell none, some or all of the shares owned by them which are included in this reoffer prospectus, no estimate can be given as to the number of shares available for resale hereby that will be held by the selling stockholders upon the termination of the offering made hereby. We have therefore assumed, for purposes of the following table, that the selling stockholders will sell all of the shares owned by them that are being offered hereby, but will not sell any other shares of our common stock that they presently own.

	Common				Percentage
	Stock			Number of	of
	Benefically	Maximum		Shares	Shares
	Owned	Number of	Maximum	Beneficially	Beneficially
	Prior	Additional	Number of	Owned	Owned
	to the	Shares	Shares	After	After
Name (1)	Offering	Issuable(2)	Offered(3)	Offering	Offering
Bill Bartels	5,029	78	3,873	1,234	*
Mike Bigelow	3,688	75	3,763	0	*
John Darrow	5,735	76	3,811	2,000	*
Brad Dicks	3,952	81	4,033	0	*
Bruce Endler	4,971	82	4,113	940	*
Bren Fries	4,014	78	3,892	200	*
Matt Geddie	4,029	82	4,111	0	*
Dan Gradwohl	3,614	74	3,688	0	*
Drew Grimes	4,336	89	4,425	0	*
Edwin R. Havrilla, Jr.	4,386	90	4,476	0	*
Ron Hay	3,578	73	3,651	0	*
Robert Hesselbein	4,110	84	4,194	0	*
Boyd Kelly	3,492	71	3,563	0	*
William M. Kessler	3,776	77	3,853	0	*

Reed McDonald	3,849	78	3,927	0	*
Greg McKinney	3,933	80	4,013	0	*
Lee Moak	7,302	88	4,390	3,000	*
Jeff Panioto	4,793	82	4,125	750	*
4					
·					

Edgar Filing: DELTA AIR LINES INC /DE/ - Form S-8 POS

Tim Parker	4,403	89	4,492	0	*
Russ Picus	3,870	71	3,554	387	*
Kingsley Roberts	4,272	87	4,359	0	*
Kenneth C. Rogers	4,134	84	4,218	0	*
Mark Saltzman	4,752	83	4,160	675	*
David Shagena	4,430	91	4,521	0	*
Jim Stuart	4,360	89	4,449	0	*
Scott Tarves	3,660	74	3,734	0	*
Steve Uvena	3,621	74	3,695	0	*
James Van Sickle	4,332	89	4,421	0	*
Gary Weistroffer	4,032	82	4,114	0	*
Len Willey	4,111	84	4,195	0	*
TOTAL	128,564	2,435	121,813	9,186	*

*	Less	than	1%.	
---	------	------	-----	--

(3)

(1) Each of the selling stockholders is an employee of Delta. In addition to being an employee of Delta, Kenneth C. Rogers is a member of the Board of Directors.

(2) Represents shares that may be issued to the selling stockholders pursuant to the Plan at a date yet to be determined. The issuance of such shares is subject to a number of conditions and factors such that all or none of these shares may be issued to the selling stockholders.

Includes the shares that may be issued to the selling stockholders pursuant to the Plan at a date yet to be determined.

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

Shares covered by this reoffer prospectus will be sold by the selling stockholders as principals for their own account. We will not receive any proceeds from sales of any shares by the selling stockholders.

The selling stockholders may sell shares pursuant to this reoffer prospectus from time to time in transactions on or through the NYSE, in privately negotiated transactions or in a combination of such transactions.

Each sale may be made either at the market price prevailing at the time of sale or at a negotiated price. Sales may be made through brokers or to dealers, and such brokers or dealers may receive compensation in the form of commissions or discounts not exceeding those customary in similar transactions. All selling and other expenses incurred by individual selling stockholders will be borne by those selling stockholders.

Any shares covered by this reoffer prospectus that qualify for sale pursuant to Rule 144 under the Securities Act may be sold under Rule 144 rather than pursuant to this reoffer prospectus.

The selling stockholders and any dealer acting in connection with the offering or any broker executing a sell order on behalf of a selling stockholder may be deemed to be "underwriters" within the meaning of the Securities Act, in which event any profit on the sale of shares by a selling stockholder and any commissions or discounts received by any such broker or dealer may be deemed to be underwriting compensation under the Securities Act. In addition, any such broker or dealer may be required to deliver a copy of this reoffer prospectus to any person who purchases any of the shares from or through such broker or dealer.

USE OF PROCEEDS

We will not receive any proceeds from this offering.

DIVIDEND POLICY

We have paid no cash dividends on our common stock and have no current intention of doing so. Any future determination to pay cash dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors, subject to applicable limitations under Delaware law and restrictions in our credit facilities, and will be dependent upon our results of operations, financial condition, contractual restrictions and other factors deemed relevant by our board of directors.

VALIDITY OF SECURITIES

The validity of the shares offered hereby has been passed upon for us by Kenneth F. Khoury, Esq., who was Executive Vice President and General Counsel of the Company at the time of the filing of the Registration Statement. At that time, Mr. Khoury participated in the Plan and had received 166,140 shares of restricted Common Stock, options to purchase 130,780 shares of Common Stock and 79,340 performance shares under the Plan. Upon his departure from the Company, Mr. Khoury was eligible for and received certain benefits under Delta's 2007 Officer and Director Severance Plan.

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007 combine the historical consolidated statements of operations of Delta Air Lines, Inc. ("Delta") and Northwest Airlines Corporation ("Northwest"), giving effect to the Merger (as defined in Note 1) as if it had occurred at the beginning of the periods presented. The historical consolidated financial statements of Delta and Northwest have been adjusted to reflect certain reclassifications to conform with Delta's current financial statement presentation.

The Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Operations were prepared using the purchase method of accounting with Delta treated as the acquiring entity. Accordingly, the aggregate value of the consideration paid by Delta to complete the Merger was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed from Northwest based upon their estimated fair values as of the Closing Date (as defined in Note 1). The purchase price allocation is subject to adjustment for up to one year after the Closing Date when additional information on asset and liability valuations becomes available. We have not finalized our review of certain liabilities recorded in the Merger. Any changes to the initial estimates of the fair value of the assets and liabilities will be recorded as adjustments to those assets and liabilities and residual amounts will be allocated to goodwill.

These Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Operations have been developed from and should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements of Delta and Northwest contained in their respective Annual Reports on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008. The Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Operations are provided for illustrative purposes only and do not purport to represent Delta's consolidated results of operations had the Merger occurred on the dates assumed, nor are these financial statements necessarily indicative of Delta's future consolidated results of operations.

Delta expects to incur significant costs and realize significant benefits from integrating the operations of Delta and Northwest. The Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Operations do not reflect these costs or benefits.

DELTA AIR LINES, INC.

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS For the Year Ended December 31, 2008

	Historical			Pro Forma	Condensed Combined	
(in millions, except per share data)	Delta		lorthwest	Adjustments	o Forma	
Operating Revenue:				J		
Passenger:						
Mainline	\$ 15,137	\$	8,482	\$ -	\$ 23,619	
Regional carriers	4,446		1,643	-	6,089	
Total passenger revenue	19,583		10,125	-	29,708	
Cargo	686		667	-	1,353	
Other, net	2,428		799	-	3,227	
Total operating revenue	22,697		11,591	-	34,288	
Operating Expense:						
Aircraft fuel and related taxes	7,346		4,996	-	12,342	
Salaries and related costs	4,802		2,427	(58)(a)	7,459	
				191 (b)		
				97 (c)		
Contract carrier arrangements	3,766		901	-	4,667	
Depreciation and amortization	1,266		1,054	20 (d)	2,331	
				31 (e)		
				(30)(f)		
				(10)(g)		
Aircraft maintenance materials and outside						
repairs	1,169		612	-	1,781	
Contracted services	1,153		676	-	1,829	
Passenger commissions and other selling						
expenses	1,030		737	-	1,767	
Landing fees and other rents	787		456	-	1,243	
Passenger service	440		210	-	650	
Aircraft rent	307		184	-	491	
Impairment of goodwill and other intangible						
assets	7,296		3,841	(135)(g)	11,002	
Restructuring and merger-related items	1,131		225	(41)(a)	1,315	
Other	518		428	(39)(a)	907	
Total operating expense	31,011		16,747	26	47,784	
Operating Loss	(8,314)		(5,156)	(26)	(13,496)	
Other (Expense) Income:						
Interest expense, net	(613)		(287)		(1,145)	
				11 (i)		
Miscellaneous, net	(114)		(230)		(344)	
Total other expense, net	(727)		(517)		(1,489)	
Loss Before Income Taxes	(9,041)		(5,673)		(14,985)	
Income Tax Benefit	119		211	(51)(j)	279	
Net Loss	\$ (8,922)	\$	(5,462)	\$ (322)	\$ (14,706)	

Basic and Diluted Loss Per Share	\$ (19.08)	(1) \$	(18.13)
Basic and Diluted Weighted Average			
Shares Outstanding	468	(1)	811

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Statements.

DELTA AIR LINES, INC.

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS For the Year Ended December 31, 2007

	(Note 3)						Condensed	
	Delta Northwest			orthwest	Pro Forma		Combined	
(in millions, except per share data)	Pro	o Forma	Pr	o Forma	Adjust	ments	Pı	ro Forma
Operating Revenue:					v			
Passenger:								
Mainline	\$	12,842	\$	9,386	\$	-	\$	22,228
Regional carriers		4,170		1,412		-		5,582
Total passenger revenue		17,012		10,798		-		27,810
Cargo		482		840		-		1,322
Other, net		1,754		895		-		2,649
Total operating revenue		19,248		12,533		-		31,781
Operating Expense:								
Aircraft fuel and related taxes		4,686		3,378		_		8,064
Salaries and related costs		4,183		2,446		191 (b)		6,917
		,		, -		97 (c)		
Contract carrier arrangements		3,152		776		-		3,928
Depreciation and amortization		1,154		486		27 (d)		1,657
1		,				40 (e)		ĺ
						(35)(f)		
						(15)(g)		
Contracted services		996		749		-		1,745
Aircraft maintenance materials and outside								
repairs		957		811		_		1,768
Passenger commissions and other selling								
expenses		933		751		-		1,684
Landing fees and other rents		725		539		-		1,264
Passenger service		338		230		-		568
Aircraft rent		260		378		-		638
Profit sharing		158		79		-		237
Other		483		749		-		1,232
Total operating expense		18,025		11,372		305		29,702
Operating Income		1,223		1,161		(305)		2,079
Other (Expense) Income:								
Interest expense, net		(511)		(493)		(256)(h)		(1,260)
Miscellaneous, net		32		152		-		184
Total other expense, net		(479)		(341)		(256)		(1,076)
Income Before Income Taxes		744		820		(561)		1,003
Income Tax Provision		(295)		(320)		213(k)		(402)
Net Income	\$	449	\$	500	\$	(348)	\$	601
Basic Earnings Per Share	\$	1.14	\$	1.91		(1)	\$	0.74
Diluted Earnings Per Share	\$	1.14	\$	1.91		(1)	\$	0.74
Basic Weighted Average Shares			,					

Outstanding	394	262	(1)	809
Diluted Weighted Average Shares				
Outstanding	395	262	(1)	809

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Statements.

DELTA AIR LINES, INC.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Basis of Presentation

On October 29, 2008 (the "Closing Date"), a wholly-owned subsidiary ("Merger Sub") of Delta Air Lines, Inc. ("Delta") merged (the "Merger") with and into Northwest Airlines Corporation. Pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, among Delta, Merger Sub and Northwest Airlines Corporation (the "Merger Agreement"), on the Closing Date (1) Northwest Airlines Corporation and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, including Northwest Airlines, Inc. (collectively, "Northwest"), became wholly-owned subsidiaries of Delta and (2) each share of Northwest common stock outstanding on the Closing Date or issuable under Northwest's Chapter 11 plan of reorganization was converted into the right to receive 1.25 shares of Delta common stock. We accounted for the Merger in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards SFAS 141, "Business Combinations" ("SFAS 141"), whereby the purchase price paid to effect the Merger was allocated to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed from Northwest based on their estimated fair values as of the Closing Date.

We issued, or expect to issue, a total of 339 million shares of Delta common stock for the Merger, or approximately 41% of the sum of the shares of Delta common stock that were then (1) outstanding on the Closing Date (including shares issued to Northwest stockholders in the Merger), (2) issuable in exchange for shares of Northwest common stock reserved for issuance under Northwest's Chapter 11 plan of reorganization, (3) reserved for issuance under Delta's Chapter 11 plan of reorganization and (4) issuable to our employees in connection with the Merger. Additionally, in connection with the Merger, we (1) agreed to issue 50 million shares of common stock to eligible Delta and Northwest pilots; (2) granted 34 million shares of common stock to substantially all U.S. based non-pilot employees of Delta and Northwest; and (3) granted 17 million shares of restricted stock and non-qualified stock options to purchase 12 million shares of common stock to management personnel. The awards to management personnel will fully vest over approximately three years, subject to the participant's continued employment.

The accompanying Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Operations present the pro forma consolidated results of operations of the combined company based upon the historical consolidated financial statements of Delta and Northwest, after giving effect to the Merger and the adjustments described in these notes, and are intended to reflect the impact of the Merger on Delta's consolidated financial statements.

The accompanying Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Operations are presented for illustrative purposes only and do not reflect the costs of any integration activities, benefits that may result from operating efficiencies or revenue synergies expected to result from the Merger.

The Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Operations give effect to the Merger as if it had occurred at the beginning of the periods presented. Historical results for Delta and Northwest for the year ended December 31, 2007 have been adjusted to reflect (1) the impact of fresh start reporting as if both companies had emerged from bankruptcy on January 1, 2007 and (2) changes in accounting principle as if adoption had occurred on January 1, 2007. For additional information regarding these adjustments, see Note 3.

For accounting purposes, the Merger was valued at \$3.4 billion. This amount was derived from the 339 million shares of Delta common stock we issued or expect to issue, as discussed above, at a price of \$9.60 per share, the average closing price of Delta common stock on the New York Stock Exchange for the five consecutive trading days that include the two trading days before, the day of and the two trading days after the public announcement of the Merger Agreement on April 14, 2008, and capitalized Merger-related transaction costs. The purchase price also includes the fair value of Delta stock options and other equity awards issued on the Closing Date in exchange for similar securities of Northwest. Northwest stock options and other equity awards vested on the Closing Date and were assumed by

Delta and modified to provide for the purchase of Delta common stock. Accordingly, the number of shares and, if applicable, the price per share were adjusted for the 1.25 exchange ratio. Vested stock options held by employees of Northwest are considered part of the purchase price.

The preliminary purchase price is calculated as follows:

(in millions, except per share data)	
Shares of Northwest common stock exchanged	271
Exchange ratio	1.25
Shares of Delta common stock issued or issuable	339
Price per share	\$ 9.60
Fair value of Delta shares issued	\$ 3,251
Fair value of outstanding Northwest stock options	18
Delta transaction costs	84
Total estimated purchase price	\$ 3,353

The table below represents the allocation of the total consideration to tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed from Northwest in the Merger based on our estimate of their respective fair values on the Closing Date:

\$ 2,441
2,756
8,552
4,572
2,702
292
(6,239)
(4,010)
(3,827)
(3,886)
\$ 3,353

In accordance with SFAS 141, the purchase price allocation is subject to adjustment for up to one year after the Closing Date when additional information on asset and liability valuations becomes available. We have not finalized our review of certain liabilities recorded in the Merger. Any changes to the initial estimates of the fair value of the assets and liabilities will be recorded as adjustments to those assets and liabilities and residual amounts will be allocated to goodwill.

Note 2. Pro Forma Adjustments

The Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Operations do not include any material non-recurring charges that will result from the Merger. The Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Operations reflect the following:

- (a) An adjustment of \$138 million for one-time costs directly attributable to the Merger, including employee retention costs and certain professional fees incurred by Northwest pursuant to provisions contained in the Merger Agreement. As a result, the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statement of Operations reflects a reduction of \$58 million in salaries and related costs, \$41 million in restructuring and merger-related items, and \$39 million in other operating expense for the year ended December 31, 2008.
- (b) The Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Operations were adjusted by \$191 million for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 to reflect higher salaries and related costs based on the adjustments to revalue Northwest's pension, postretirement and related benefits as part of purchase

accounting.

- (c) An adjustment to salaries and related costs for compensation expense related to 29 million shares of Delta common stock issued to management employees in the Merger. These shares of Delta common stock are in the form of time-based restricted stock and non-qualified stock options. The issuance of the restricted shares increases the Delta common stock outstanding as of December 31, 2008 by 17 million shares. As a result, the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Operations reflect an increase to salaries and related costs of \$97 million for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007.
- (d) The Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Operations were adjusted by \$20 million and \$27 million for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, to adjust depreciation expense based on the adjusted fair value and asset lives of Northwest's property and equipment as part of purchase accounting.
- (e) The fair value of Northwest's tradename was adjusted and reclassified as a definite-lived intangible asset. Accordingly, the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Operations reflect an increase to amortization expense of \$31 million and \$40 million for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
- (f) The fair value of Northwest's intangible assets primarily associated with its WorldPerks affinity card contract was adjusted as part of purchase accounting. Additionally, during the year ended December 31, 2008, Northwest recorded a \$588 million non-cash charge from an impairment of definite-lived intangible assets primarily associated with customer relationships. As a result of these items, the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Operations reflect a net reduction in amortization expense of \$30 million and \$35 million for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. These amortization pro forma adjustments do not reflect the effects of the adjustment to fair value for certain code share partner agreements and the impairment of Northwest's SkyTeam Alliance as these items are included as part of (g) below. Additionally, the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Operations do not reflect any pro forma adjustments for the impairment, except as discussed in (g) below.
- (g) A \$135 million adjustment for the year ended December 31, 2008 to eliminate the impairment of intangible assets of (1) \$103 million associated with the portion of Delta's SkyTeam Alliance agreements that is directly attributable to Northwest and (2) \$32 million associated with the portion of Northwest's SkyTeam Alliance agreements that is directly attributable to Delta. Additionally, in order to conform to Delta's classification, Northwest's SkyTeam Alliance and other related agreements would have been recognized as indefinite-lived intangible assets. Previously, Northwest amortized these assets on a straight-line basis over a 30-year life as definite-lived intangible assets. As a result of this adjustment, the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Operations reflect lower amortization expense of \$10 million and \$15 million for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
- (h) The fair value of Northwest's long-term debt was adjusted as part of purchase accounting. The difference between the fair value and the face amount of each borrowing is amortized using the effective interest rate method as additional interest expense over the remaining term of the borrowings based on the maturity dates. Accordingly, the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Operations reflect higher interest expense of \$256 million for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007.
- (i) Other noncurrent assets was adjusted due to the elimination of deferred debt issuance costs incurred by Northwest during 2008. As a result of this adjustment, the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Operations reflect a reduction in interest expense of \$11 million for the year ended December 31, 2008.

A \$51 million income tax provision from the \$135 million impairment adjustment related to the SkyTeam Alliance, as discussed in (g) above. The net operating loss from the remaining pro forma adjustments is fully offset by an increase to the valuation allowance on the deferred tax asset.

(k) A \$213 million income tax benefit from the incremental loss associated with other pro forma adjustments. This adjustment is based on the statutory rates in effect for the year ended December 31, 2007.

(l) The pro forma combined basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 is calculated as follows:

	P	ro Forma	Pro Forma	
	Ye	ear Ended	Year Ended	
	Dec	cember 31,	December 31,	
(in millions, except per share data)		2008	2007	
Pro forma net (loss) income	\$	(14,706)	\$ 601	
Basic weighted average shares outstanding, including shares issuable				
pursuant to plan of reorganization		396	394	
Accelerated vesting of restricted and performance shares		4	4	
Shares of Delta common stock issued:				
Northwest shares issued and outstanding(2)		322	322	
Northwest shares issuable pursuant to plan of reorganization(1)(2)		9	9	
Accelerated vesting of Northwest shares of restricted stock(2)		5	5	
Subtotal		336	336	
Shares issued to Delta and Northwest pilots		50	50	
Shares issued to Delta and Northwest non-pilot employees		21	21	
Restricted shares issued to management employees of the combined				
company vesting during the period		4	4	
Weighted average shares outstanding(3)		811	809	
Pro forma basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share(3)	\$	(18.13)	\$ 0.74	

- (1) Represents shares issuable pursuant to the Chapter 11 plan of reorganization to holders of allowed general, unsecured claims.
- (2) Represents shares of Delta common stock issued after giving effect to the 1.25 exchange ratio as determined in the Merger Agreement.
- (3) Excluded from the pro forma combined basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share calculations are options to purchase 24 million shares of Delta common stock, which includes (1) 7 million shares of Northwest stock options assumed by Delta and modified to provide for the issuance of Delta common stock upon exercise of the options and (2) 12 million shares issued to management employees of the combined company, as their effect is anti-dilutive. In addition, all unvested restricted shares are excluded because their effect is anti-dilutive.

Note 3. Fresh Start Reporting

Upon emergence from Chapter 11, Delta and Northwest adopted fresh start reporting in accordance with American Institute of Certified Public Accountants' Statement of Position, SOP 90-7, "Financial Reporting by Entities in Reorganization under the Bankruptcy Code." Fresh start reporting requires resetting the historical net book value of assets and liabilities to fair value by allocating the entity's reorganization value to its assets and liabilities pursuant to SFAS 141. The adoption of fresh start reporting resulted in Delta and Northwest becoming new entities for financial reporting purposes. Accordingly, the Consolidated Financial Statements after adoption of fresh start reporting are not comparable to the Consolidated Financial Statements prior to that date.

Delta's adoption of fresh start reporting on April 30, 2007 resulted in its Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2007 including (1) the four months ended April 30, 2007 for the predecessor entity and

(2) the eight months ended December 31, 2007 of the successor entity. Northwest's adoption of fresh start reporting on May 31, 2007 resulted in its Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2007 including (1) the five months ended May 31, 2007 of the predecessor entity and (2) the seven months ended December 31, 2007 of the successor entity.

To enhance the comparability of the information presented, the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statement of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2007 includes pro forma historical financial statements of Delta and Northwest adjusted to reflect (1) the impact of fresh start reporting as if implemented on January 1, 2007 and (2) changes in accounting principle as if adoption had occurred on January 1, 2007. The tables below present the historical results for each company after giving effect to these adjustments.

Additional information concerning fresh start reporting adjustment made by each company is available in the respective Annual Reports on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008 of each company.

Delta Air Lines, Inc.

(in millions, except per share data)	Four En	Predecessor Successor Eight Months Our Months Ended December April 30, 2007		Eight Months Ended December 31,	Pro Forma Adjustments		Pro Forma Year Ended December 31, 2007	
Operating Revenue:								
Passenger:								
Mainline	\$	3,829	\$		\$	84 (a)	\$	12,842
Regional affiliates		1,296		2,874		_		4,170
Total passenger revenue		5,125		11,803		84		17,012
Cargo		148		334				482
Other, net		523		1,221		10 (a)		1,754
Total operating revenue		5,796		13,358		94		19,248
Operating Expense:								
Aircraft fuel and related taxes		1,270		3,416				4,686
Salaries and related costs		1,302		2,887		(6) (b)		4,183
Contract carrier arrangements		956		2,196				3,152
Depreciation and amortization		386		778		(10)(c)		1,154
Contracted services		326		670		_		996
Aircraft maintenance materials and outside repairs		320		663		(26)(d)		957
Passenger commissions and other selling expenses		298		635				933
Landing fees and other rents		250		475				725
Passenger service		95		243				338
Aircraft rent		90		156		14 (e)		260
Profit sharing		14		144		_		158
Other		189		299		(5) (e)		483
Total operating expense		5,496		12,562		(33)		18,025
Operating Income		300		796		127		1,223
Other (Expense) Income:								
Interest expense, net		(248)		(276)		13 (f)		(511)
Miscellaneous, net		27		5				32
Total other expense, net		(221)		(271)		13		(479)
Income Before Reorganization Items, Net		79		525		140		744
Reorganization Items, Net		1,215		_		(1,215) (g)		
Income Before Income Taxes		1,294		525		(1,075)		744
Income Tax Benefit (Provision)		4		(211)		(88) (h)		(295)
Net Income	\$	1,298	\$	314	\$	(1,163)	\$	449
Basic Earnings Per Share	\$	6.58	\$			(i)	\$	1.14
Diluted Earnings Per Share	\$	4.63	\$			(i)	\$	1.14
Basic Weighted Average Shares Outstanding		197		394		(i)		394
Diluted Weighted Average Shares Outstanding		234		395		(i)		395

⁽a) SkyMiles Frequent Flyer Program. Delta revalued the frequent flyer award liability to estimated fair value and changed the accounting policy from an incremental cost method to a deferred revenue method. Fair value represents the estimated price that third parties would require Delta to pay for the third parties to

assume the obligation of redeeming miles under the SkyMiles program. The revaluation of the frequent flyer liability and change in accounting policy resulted in increases to passenger and other, net revenue.

- (b) Salaries and Related Costs. The revaluation of Delta's pension and other postretirement liabilities resulted in a decrease in net benefit cost due to the change in the projected benefit obligation and the change in the fair value of plan assets, as well as the elimination of the amortization of actuarial gains/losses and prior service benefits/costs.
- (c) Depreciation and Amortization of Intangible Assets. Delta revalued property and equipment to fair value, which reduced the net book value of these assets by \$1.0 billion. In addition, Delta adjusted the depreciable lives of flight equipment to reflect revised estimated useful lives. Delta valued intangible assets at fair value, which increased the net book value of intangible assets (excluding goodwill) by \$2.9 billion, of which \$956 million relates to amortizable intangible assets. These intangible assets reflect the estimated fair value of Delta's trade name, takeoff and arrival slots, SkyTeam alliance agreements, marketing agreements, customer relationships and certain contracts. These revaluations and adjustments to useful lives resulted in a net decrease to depreciation and amortization.
- (d) Aircraft Maintenance Materials and Outside Repairs. Delta changed the way it accounts for certain maintenance parts that were previously capitalized and depreciated. After emergence from Chapter 11, Delta expenses these parts as they are placed on the aircraft.
- (e) Other Fresh Start Adjustments. Delta recorded other adjustments relating primarily to the revaluation of aircraft leases. These adjustments are reflected in operating expense and non-operating expense.
- (f) Interest Expense. The revaluation of Delta's debt and capital lease obligations resulted in a decrease in interest expense due to the amortization of net premiums from adjusting these obligations to fair value.
- (g) Reorganization Items, Net. Delta recorded an adjustment to reflect the elimination of reorganization items, net.
- (h) Income Taxes. Delta recorded an \$88 million income tax provision adjustment from the incremental income associated with other pro forma adjustments and statutory income taxes for the four months ended April 30, 2007 of the predecessor. This adjustment is based on the effective tax rate (the statutory rate adjusted for permanent items) for the year ended December 31, 2007.
- (i) Earnings per Share. Pro forma basic earnings per share is based on basic weighted average shares outstanding for the eight months ended December 31, 2007 of the successor. Pro forma diluted earnings per share is based on diluted weighted average shares outstanding for the eight months ended December 31, 2007 of the successor.

Northwest Airlines Corporation

	Prede	ecessor	Succe Seven I					
	Five 1	Months	End				Pro	Forma
	Er	nded	December				Year Ended	
	Ma	ıy 31,	31,		Pro Forma		December 31,	
(in millions, except per share data)	20	007	2007		Adjustments		2007	
Operating Revenue:								
Passenger:								
Mainline	\$	3,768	\$	5,660	\$	(42) (a)	\$	9,386
Regional affiliates		521		884		7 (a)		1,412
Total passenger revenue		4,289		6,544		(35)		10,798
Cargo		318		522				840
Other, net		317		538		40 (a)		895
Total operating revenue		4,924		7,604		5		12,533
Operating Expense:								
Aircraft fuel and related taxes		1,289		2,089				3,378
Salaries and related costs		1,027		1,462		(43) (b)		2,446
Contract carrier arrangements		342		434				776
Depreciation and amortization		206		289		(9)(c)		486
Contracted services		291		458				749
Aircraft maintenance materials and outside repairs		303		508		_		811
Passenger commissions and other selling expenses		315		436				751
Landing fees and other rents		235		304		_		539
Passenger service		92		138				230
Aircraft rent		160		218		_		378
Profit sharing			-	79				79
Other		301		448		_		749
Total operating expense		4,561		6,863		(52)		11,372
Operating Income		363		741		57		1,161
Other (Expense) Income:								
Interest expense, net		(219)		(273)		(1)(d)		(493)
Reorganization items, net		1,551		_		(1,551) (e)		
Miscellaneous, net		54		98				152
Total other income (expense), net		1,386		(175)		(1,552)		(341)
Income Before Income Taxes		1,749		566		(1,495)		820
Income Tax Benefit (Provision)		2		(224)		(98) (f)		(320)
Net Income	\$	1,751	\$	342	\$	(1,593)		